IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-1913

(Third DCA Case No. 3D10-856)

J	OSE	LAZA	ARO I	ROD	RIGI	JEZ.

Petitioner,

VS.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

On Petition for Discretionary Jurisdiction to Review Conflict Certified by Third District Court of Appeal

Barbara A. Silverman
Florida Bar Number 221384
Curtis B. Miner
Florida Bar Number 885681
Ervin A. Gonzalez
Florida Bar Number 500720
COLSON HICKS EIDSON
255 Alhambra Circle, Penthouse
Coral Gables, FL 33134
Telephone: (305) 476-7400

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Jose Rodriguez was the owner of a car stereo and detailing business who was shot multiple times and severely injured by a Miami-Dade police officer when Mr. Rodriguez responded to his store after being alerted by his alarm service that his burglar alarm had been triggered. Mr. Rodriguez survived the shooting but suffered severe permanent injuries. He brought a negligence action against Miami-Dade County ("the County") based on the conduct of its agent, Officer Jesus Hernandez, at the burglary scene. Op. 10-11

The County moved for summary judgment on the grounds, *inter alia*, that the County was entitled to sovereign immunity for Officer Hernandez's actions. The trial court denied the motion for summary judgment with respect to the negligence claim. The County filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Third District Court of Appeal, seeking review of the denial of its motion for summary judgment. As the basis for invoking the jurisdiction of the appellate court, the County asserted that the denial of its motion for summary judgment based on sovereign immunity was reviewable by certiorari. Op. 2. In response, Rodriguez argued that the petition should be dismissed for lack of certiorari jurisdiction based upon this Court's opinion in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1996). Op. 12-13. In an opinion filed on August 31, 2011, the Third District Court of Appeal held that it had certiorari jurisdiction based on

its conclusion that if the County is entitled to sovereign immunity the trial itself constitutes irreparable harm. Op. 13-14 & n.4. It went on to address the merits, granted the petition, and certified conflict with the decisions in *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009),^{11/} and *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). Op. at 19. On September 28, 2011, Jose Lazaro Rodriguez, timely filed his notice to invoke the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

As certified, the Third District's opinion below, holding that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of a motion for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity, directly and expressly conflicts with the decisions of the Fifth District in *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445, and the Second District in *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30, which held that the district court lacked certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of a motion for summary judgment or motion to dismiss based on a defense of sovereign immunity. In addition, the opinion below conflicts with and misapplies this Court's opinion in *Department of*

In its opinion, the Third District incorrectly identified *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas* as a decision of the First District Court of Appeal.

Education v. Roe, 679 So.2d 756, which denied interlocutory review of a nonfinal order denying a motion to dismiss a negligence claim based on a defense of sovereign immunity. The opinion below also conflicts with the decision in Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc., 46 So.3d 1051 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010), review granted, 56 So.3d 765 (Fla. 2011), in which the First District applied Roe to preclude certiorari review of the denial of a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. That case is pending for review in this Court. Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc., Case No. SC10-2433. This Court should accept jurisdiction here to resolve the conflict on this important issue with respect to the certiorari jurisdiction of the district courts of appeal.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO RESOLVE A SIGNIFICANT CONFLICT IN FLORIDA LAW WITH RESPECT TO THE CERTIORARI JURISDICTION OF THE DISTRICT COURTS OF APPEAL

As certified by the Third District Court of Appeal, there is an express and direct conflict between the decision below and the decisions of the Fifth and Second District Courts of Appeal in *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445, and *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30, with respect to the certiorari jurisdiction of the district courts. In each of those cases, the Fifth District and Second District held that it lacked certiorari

jurisdiction to review the denial of a motion for summary judgment or a motion to dismiss, respectively, based on the assertion of a defense of sovereign immunity. In direct conflict, here the Third District held that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of the motion for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity, and granted the petition.

In *Thomas*, as here, the defendant/petitioner sought a writ of certiorari from the denial of its motion for summary judgment. In denying the writ, the court stated:

Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari, contending that the trial court's denial of its motion for summary judgment constituted a departure from the essential requirements of law. It is petitioner's position that respondent's claim is barred by application of the sovereign immunity doctrine. We conclude that we lack jurisdiction to review this interlocutory order. See Dep't of Education v. Roe, 679 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1996); School Bd. of Miami-Dade County v. Leyva, 975 So.2d 576 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008).

19 So.3d at 446 (emphasis supplied). 12/

In School Bd. of Miami-Dade County v. Leyva, 975 So.2d 576, 576 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008), the Third District itself held it did not have certiorari jurisdiction to review denial of a motion to dismiss based on grounds of sovereign immunity:

Asserting sovereign immunity, the School Board of Miami-Dade County petitions for a writ of certiorari, asking that we quash a trial court's order denying its motion to dismiss the negligence action brought by the estate of a child killed at a school crosswalk. Relying on *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So.2d 757 (Fla.

In *Wrye*, the plaintiffs filed a complaint against the Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority alleging negligence and breach of contract. The transit authority sought to appeal the trial court's denial of its motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. The Second District dismissed the appeal:

We conclude that we do not have jurisdiction to review the denial of the motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity either as a nonfinal appeal or as a certiorari proceeding. In reaching such a conclusion, we align ourselves with State, Department of Transportation v. Paris, 665 So.2d 381 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); Department of Education v. Roe, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), review granted, 663 So.2d 629 (Fla. 1995); and with Judge Sharpe's well-reasoned dissent in Department of Transportation v. Wallis, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995).

750 So.2d at 30 (emphasis supplied).

Here, the Third District reach the opposite conclusion and held that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of the County's motion for summary judgment based upon its defense of sovereign immunity: "We cannot, however, join our sister courts in refusing, on jurisdictional grounds, to entertain all writs from denials of motions to dismiss or for summary judgment on sovereign immunity grounds." Op. at 5-6. It went on to determine that the claim was barred by sovereign immunity, grant the petition and certify conflict, stating:

1996), we conclude that we do not have jurisdiction to review this denial of the motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. (emphasis supplied)

or the foregoing reasons, we exercise our jurisdiction to preclude prosecution as the sovereign remains immune from this suit and we grant the petition. In recognizing our jurisdiction to entertain, where appropriate, certiorari jurisdiction where a governmental entity's claim is that it remains immune from suit, rather than that it is not liable for lack of duty, we certify conflict with the decisions in *Florida A & M University Board of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445, 446 (Fla. 1st [sic] DCA 2009) and *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Authority v. Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

Op. at 19.

Thus, the Third District's decision in this case expressly and directly conflicts with the Fifth District's decision in *Thomas*, 19 So.3d 445, and the Second District's decision in *Wrye*, 750 So.2d 30, on the question of whether the district courts have certiorari jurisdiction to review denial of motions to dismiss or for summary judgment based on grounds of sovereign immunity. Therefore, this Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review the decision below. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const.

The Third District's decision also conflicts with this Court's opinion in *Roe*, 679 So.2d 756. That opinion was relied on by the Fifth District in holding that it lacked certiorari jurisdiction in *Thomas*, 19 So.3d at 446. It was also the basis of the Third District's holding that it lacked certiorari jurisdiction in *Leyva*, 975 So.2d at 576. In holding that it lacked jurisdiction in *Wrye*, 750 So.2d at 30, the Second District aligned itself with the First District's opinion in *Department of Education*

v. Roe, 656 So.2d 507 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), which was subsequently approved by this Court in Roe, 679 So.2d at 759.

Roe involved a negligence claim against the Department of Education ("DOE"). Following the trial court's denial of its motion to dismiss on grounds of sovereign immunity, the DOE filed a petition for writ of certiorari. The First District initially treated the petition as an interlocutory appeal, reasoning that this Court's decision in *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So.2d 1187 (Fla. 1994), which permitted interlocutory review of an order denying summary judgment based on a defense of qualified immunity, was also applicable to denial of a motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity. The First District addressed the merits and ruled in DOE's favor, remanding with directions to dismiss the claim with prejudice. However, on rehearing the district court retreated from its decision to treat the petition as an interlocutory appeal, and denied certiorari. *Roe*, 656 So.2d at 507-08.

This Court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the First District's opinion in *Roe* and the opinion in *Department of Transportation v. Wallis*, 659 So.2d 429 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). *Roe*, 679 So.2d at 757. On review, this Court declined to extend its decision in *Tucker*, 648 So.2d 1187, to claims of sovereign immunity, and held that interlocutory review is not available for a nonfinal order denying a governmental entity's claim of sovereign immunity as a defense to a state law cause of action. *Roe*, 679 So.2d at 759. In reaching that

decision, this Court rejected the argument that suits against governmental entities grounded upon the statutory waiver of sovereign immunity are analogous to, and should be treated similarly to, suits against public officials involving claims of qualified immunity. The Court expressly found that forcing the state to wait until after final judgment for appellate review of the issue sovereign immunity would not deprive the state of the benefit of the immunity:

Florida has agreed to be sued in its own courts for tort actions. § 768.28. Further, forcing the state to wait until a final judgment before appealing the issue of sovereign immunity does not present the same concerns that exist in the area of qualified immunity. For example, public officials who defend tort suits against the state are not sued in their personal capacities. As a result, defending these suits is not likely to have a chilling effect on the exercise of public officials' discretion in the discharge of their official duties. In addition, although the state will have to bear the expense of continuing litigation, the benefit of immunity from liability, should the state ultimately prevail on the sovereign immunity issue, will not be lost simply because review must wait until after final judgment.

Roe, 679 So.2d at 759 (emphasis supplied).

In direct conflict here, the Third District reached the exactly opposite result. It based its determination that it had certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of summary judgment on grounds of sovereign immunity on its conclusion that the County would suffer irreparable harm if it were required to go to trial because if it is entitled to sovereign immunity "it is the trial itself that

constitutes the harm." Op. at 13-14 & n.4. That conclusion is a misapplication of this Court's decision in *Roe*, and directly and expressly conflicts with the Fifth District's application of *Roe* in determining that it lacked certiorari jurisdiction in *Thomas*, 19 So.3d at 446.

In addition, the opinion below conflicts with the First District's decision in Citizens Prop. Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc., 46 So.3d 1051. There the district court declined interlocutory review by appeal, prohibition or certiorari, of the denial of Citizens' motion to dismiss based on grounds of sovereign immunity. Id. at 1053. The First District found that, "[a]s Roe suggested, there is no irreparable harm in requiring that appellate consideration of the sovereign immunity claim await the entry of a final judgment." Id. It certified conflict and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

Whether in light of the Supreme Court's ruling in *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So.2d 756 (Fla. 1996), review of the denial of a motion to dismiss based on a claim of sovereign immunity should await the entry of a final judgment in the trial court?

Id. That case is presently pending before this Court for review in *Citizens Property Ins. Corp. v. San Perdido Ass'n, Inc.*, No. SC10-2433 (*review granted*, Feb. 17, 2011). It has been fully briefed and is awaiting decision, having recently been argued before this Court on September 8, 2011.

In light of the conflict among the district courts and the Third District's

misapplication of this Court's decision in *Roe*, this Court has discretionary conflict jurisdiction. *See Wallace v. Dean*, 3 So.3d 1035, 1039-40 (Fla. 2009). This Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve the conflict and settle this important issue with respect to the certiorari jurisdiction of the district courts of appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner Jose Lazaro Rodriguez respectfully requests this Court to accept jurisdiction, pursuant to the certification of conflict, and to resolve the conflict between the Third District's opinion below and the opinions of the Second and Fifth Districts.