## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

Case No.: SC11-1913

(Third DCA Case No. 3D10-856)

# JOSE LAZARO RODRIGUEZ Petitioner,

v.

MIAMI-DADE COUNTY,

Respondent.

## **RESPONSE TO PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION**

On Petition for Discretionary Jurisdiction to Review Conflict Certified by Third District Court of Appeal

> R. A. CUEVAS, JR. Miami-Dade County Attorney 111 N.W. 1st Street, Suite 2810 Miami, Florida 33128 Telephone: (305) 375-5151 Facsimile: (305) 375-5611

By: Erica S. Zaron, Esq. Assistant County Attorney Fla. Bar No. 0514489 zaron@miamidade.gov

#

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND THE FACTS**

This case involves Miami-Dade County's (the "County") emergency law enforcement response to an in-progress burglary. The facts are undisputed. The Miami-Dade Police Department was dispatched to respond to an audible alarm at an electronics store. Officers Jesus Hernandez ("Officer Hernandez") and Javier Albite responded to the call. As they arrived at the scene, the officers actually saw a burglar breaking into the building. As Officer Hernandez emerged from the car to apprehend the burglar, another unidentified man arrived on the scene and pointed a gun at him. This man later turned out to be Petitioner, the owner of the electronics store. Officer Hernandez immediately fired his weapon in self-defense.

The County moved for summary judgment on the grounds that sovereign immunity shields it from negligence claims challenging the actions an officer takes in responding to an emergency. The trial court denied the County's motion. The County filed a petition for writ of certiorari with the Third District Court of Appeal ("District Court"), seeking review of the denial of its motion for summary judgment. In a published opinion following oral argument, the District Court granted the petition, rejecting Petitioner's argument that *Department of Education v. Roe*, 679 So. 2d 756 (Fla. 1996) foreclosed the availability of certiorari review (the "Opinion"). The District Court also agreed with the County on the merits that Officer Hernandez's decision to shoot was "the type of fundamental law enforcement decision . . . that should be left to the expertise of law enforcement rather than [] put to a referendum by the courts and juries." *Miami-Dade County v. Rodriguez*, 67 So. 3d 1213, 1222 (Fla. 3d DCA 2011). The Court then certified conflict with the Fifth District Court of Appeal's per curiam decision in *Florida A&M Univ. Bd. of Trustees v. Thomas*, 19 So. 3d 445 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009), and the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Auth. v. Wrye*, 750 So. 2d 30 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), review dismissed, *Pinellas Suncoast Transit Auth. v. Wrye*, 628 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 1996).

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Although the District Court certified conflict in this case, this Court should deny jurisdiction for a number of reasons. First, and despite Petitioner's assertions to the contrary, the District Court's decision does not conflict with this Court's decision in *Roe. Roe* holds only that a denial of sovereign immunity is not the proper subject of an interlocutory appeal under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130; importantly, this Court's holding in *Roe* did not address whether an appellate court may review a denial of sovereign immunity via certiorari writ.<sup>1</sup>

Second, there is no "direct and express" conflict among the district courts of appeal on this narrow question in either of the cases cited by the District Court.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This Court should also note that the application to an appellate court for certiorari review of a denial of sovereign immunity is rare because it is only with an undisputed factual record that an appellate court is in the position to evaluate whether sovereign immunity applies at all.

*Thomas*, the first case cited by the District Court, was a per curiam decision and therefore ineligible for purposes of creating conflict. 19 So. 3d 445 (Fla. 5th DCA 2009). Additionally, the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Wrye* does not squarely address the question presented. This Court should decline jurisdiction to allow further percolation among the district courts of appeal in response to the District Court's well-reasoned Opinion.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. The Decision Below Does Not Expressly and Directly Conflict With This Court's Decision in *Roe*

The Florida Constitution provides that this Court "[m]ay review any decision of a district court of appeal . . . that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of . . . the supreme court on the *same question of law.*" FLA. CONST. art. 5, § 3(b)(3) (emphasis added). Petitioner's contention that the District Court's Opinion expressly and directly conflicts with this Court's holding in *Roe*, Pet. at 8—9, is misguided.

In *Roe*, this Court reviewed the First District Court of Appeal's refusal to review the denial of a motion to dismiss on sovereign immunity grounds. Petitioners there contended that the rule espoused in *Tucker v. Resha*, 648 So. 2d 1187 (Fla. 1994)—allowing interlocutory review of a denial of qualified immunity—extended to denials of sovereign immunity as well. *Roe*, 679 So. 2d at 758. Although this Court disagreed with petitioners, and found that there was not a

separate category under Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.130 for appeals of orders denying sovereign immunity, it did not expressly address or prohibit reviewing courts from exercising their certiorari jurisdiction in such cases, where appropriate. It refused only to "extend *Tucker* beyond the circumstances of that case," *id.* at 759, and carve out a new category of non-final, interlocutory orders that may be reviewed as of right under Rule 9.130(a)(3). The question ruled upon by the District Court in this case was simply not the question presented in *Roe*. Therefore, there is no express and direct conflict between the Opinion and *Roe*, and this Court should decline to take jurisdiction of this case.

# II. The District Courts of Appeal Are Not Expressly and Directly in Conflict

The District Court's certification of conflict should be disregarded, as should Petitioner's assertion that the Opinion is in "express and direct conflict" with the *Thomas* and *Wrye* opinions. This Court has established that in order to rise to the level of an "express and direct" conflict it is not enough that two district courts of appeal reached contrary conclusions on a given issue of law.

In *Dodi Publishing Co. v. Editorial America, S.A.*, 385 So. 2d 1369 (Fla. 1980), this Court declined jurisdiction where the district court of appeal decision purportedly establishing conflict was a per curiam decision. This Court explained that two decisions are not in conflict where one of the decisions requires the Court to "reexamine a case cited in a per curiam decision to determine if the contents of

that cited case now conflict with other appellate decisions." *Id.* at 1369. Petitioner's contention that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's per curiam decision in *Thomas* is enough to establish a conflict with the district court's decision here thus runs directly counter to *Dodi*'s holding. As in *Dodi*, the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in *Thomas*—that it lacks jurisdiction to review a denial of a motion for summary judgment asserting sovereign immunity—was a per curiam decision that relied upon two cites without any explanation. *Thomas*, 19 So. 3d at 446 ("We conclude that we lack jurisdiction to review this interlocutory order.") (citing *Roe; School Bd. of Miami-Dade County v. Levya*, 975 So. 2d 576 (3d DCA 2008)). *Thomas* therefore cannot be relied upon to create a conflict sufficient for jurisdiction in this Court.

Furthermore, there is at most only an apparent conflict between the Second District Court of Appeal's decision in *Wrye* and the District Court's decision here. *Wrye* did not squarely address whether an appellate court has the power to exercise its certiorari jurisdiction to review a denial of sovereign immunity at summary judgment. The only issue in front of the *Wrye* panel was whether the court had jurisdiction over an "appeal [of] a nonfinal order challenging the denial of [a] motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity," *Wrye*, 750 So. 2d at 30 (emphasis added). *Wrye* does not mention that the appellant sought certiorari review of anything. *Wrye's* passing assertion that it did not have "jurisdiction to

review the denial of the motion to dismiss based on sovereign immunity . . . as a certiorari proceeding," *id.*, was dicta.<sup>2</sup> Nevertheless, Petitioner misstates the *holding* in *Wrye* to be that "the district court lacked certiorari jurisdiction to review the denial of a motion for summary judgment or motion to dismiss based on a defense of sovereign immunity." Pet. at 2. Despite Petitioner's statements otherwise, the ultimate holding in *Wrye* does not reflect a conflict with the Opinion in this case.

Petitioner also incorrectly suggests that the District Court's Opinion conflicts with the First District Court of Appeal's decision in *Citizens Property Insurance Corp. v. San Perdido Assoc., Inc.*, 46 So. 3d 1051 (1st DCA 2010).<sup>3</sup> Pet. at 9—10. The narrow question at issue in *Citizens* was whether the district court could exercise its certiorari jurisdiction to review the trial court's denial of Citizens Property Insurance Corporation's statutory immunity under Fla. Stat. § 627.351(6)(s)(1).<sup>4</sup> The County appeared as *amicus* in *Citizens* and argued that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Notably, in the sixteen years since *Wrye* was decided, the Second District Court of Appeal has not offered any indication that it intends to adopt its dictum as binding precedent. Without any such suggestion, there is simply no conflict for this Court to resolve. This Court would thus be wise to conserve its resources and allow for the Second District Court of Appeal to react to the District Court's well-reasoned decision before accepting jurisdiction over this issue.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> *Citizens* is currently pending before this Court, Case No. SC10–2433.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The First District Court of Appeal phrased the issue for review too broadly, certifying a question involving certiorari review of a denial of sovereign immunity generally, even though the issue before that court involved Citizens' statutory immunity only, and not traditional immunity, such as exists in this case.

the <u>statutory</u> immunity at issue there is not the same as the <u>common law</u> sovereign immunity of governmental entities. The differences between the immunities at issue in *Citizens* and this case mean that no conflict exists between the two decisions.

At most, the District Court's Opinion foreshadows what may be a future tension with other district courts of appeal. But the Florida Constitution imposes a higher threshold than mere tension: the decision must "expressly and directly conflict," FLA. CONST. art. 5, § 3(b)(3), with that of another district court of appeal. At present, there is no discernible conflict on the narrow question of whether a district court may exercise its discretion and review a denial of sovereign immunity by certiorari writ because both the Second and Fifth District Court decisions were devoid of any reasoning. Indeed, neither opinion is more than a few sentences long. The District Court's Opinion was the first thoroughly-reasoned decision on the narrow question presented. Given sufficient time to react to the District Court's well-reasoned Opinion, the other district courts may likely follow the District Court's analysis. Even if the appellate courts diverge at some point, however, this Court should not jump the gun and rule on a conflict until such conflict actually exists.

7

## **CONCLUSION**

Although the District Court certified conflict, the cases upon which it and Petitioners rely do not establish the kind of express and direct conflict required for this Court to exercise its discretion and grant jurisdiction. The District Court has now analyzed the issues in its comprehensive Opinion. This Court should decline jurisdiction in this case and allow the other district courts of appeal to issue their own decisions before determining that a conflict exists on this narrow issue of law.